# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01665-COA

### CHAZ PINKSTON

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

George T. Holmes, MSB Not MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NO. 2009-KA-01665-COA

### CHAZ PINKSTON

APPELLANT

V.

### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

## **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1:	WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED?
ISSUE NO. 2:	WHETHER APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY LATE DISCOVERY?
ISSUE NO. 3:	WHETHER THE CONVICTION IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi where Chaz Pinkston was convicted of armed robbery in a jury trial held May 11-13, 2009, with Honorable W. Swan Yerger, Circuit Judge, presiding. Pinkston was sentenced to thirty-five (35) years imprisonment and is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

#### <u>FACTS</u>

When the manager of the LeFluer's Gallery branch of Merchants & Farmers Bank on I-55 Frontage Road in Jackson arrived for work around 7:45 a. m. on June 16, 2008, he was met by two men with guns who escorted him into the bank. [T. 272-76]. The men demanded money and that the safe be opened. *Id*. The safe was on a timer and could not be accessed. *Id*. The two men rummaged through the bank looking for money which activated an alarm. [*Id.*, T. 286]. The would-be robbers exited the bank, and on the way out, one of them discharged his weapon into two bank computers. *Id.* Then the two men then left in what was described as an older model dark Mercury Cougar. [T. 283, 286].

Some of the attempted robbery episode was captured on bank security video. [T. 288-89; Ex. 7]. After portions of the video recordings were shown on local news broadcasts, the appellant Chas Pinkston became a suspect. [T. 351]. The branch manager picked Pinkston out of a photographic line-up. [T. 284-85, 351].

A warrant was issued for Pinkston and he turned himself in at police headquarters. [T. 10, 554]. He initially refused to make as statement. [T. 11].

After being in jail for several days however, it was reported that Pinkston, while in a padded cell, requested to speak with law enforcement. [T. 12-15, 17]. The state presented testimony that a subsequent interview with investigators produced a voluntary written confession from Pinkston. [T. 29-33, 89-100; Exs. 26-27]. Pinkston maintained that he made no such confession and that the written statement is a forgery. [T. 43-53].

It was determined that Pinkston owned a dark Mercury Cougar. [T. 342-45, 352-54]. An executed search warrant for Pinkston's residence produced clothes allegedly matching one of the robbers'. [*Id.*, T. 378].

Dissatisfied with his retained lawyer, Pinkston was allowed to proceed *pro se* with advisory assistance from counsel, after being found competent to stand trial. [T. 148-58]. Pinkston testified that he had no recollection of being involved in an attempted robbery

2

and put on evidence of good character. [T. 494-95, 582-94].

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Pinkston's confession should not have been admitted into evidence; he was prejudiced by alleged late discovery; and, the verdict is not supported by the weight of evidence.

#### **ARGUMENT**

### ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS PROPERLY ADMITTED?

Involuntary confessions are inadmissible. *Carley v. State*, 739 So. 2d 1046, 1500 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999), *Neal v. State*, 451 So. 2d 743, 750 (Miss. 1984), *Morgan v. State*, 681 So. 2d 82, 87 (Miss. 1996), Fifth, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the U. S. Constitution and Article 3, § 26 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890. The state has the burden to prove voluntariness of a confession beyond reasonable doubt, and may meet this burden "by offering the testimony of those individuals having knowledge of the facts that the confession was given without threats, coercion, or offer of reward." *Carley*, 739 So. 2d 1500. See also *Haymer v. State*, 613 So. 2d 837, 839 (Miss. 1993); *Kirkland v. State*, 559 So. 2d 1046 (Miss. 1990).

The burden is met and a prima facie case is established with testimony from

officers, or persons with knowledge of the facts, that the confession was voluntarily given free from threats, coercion, or offers of reward. *Cox v. State*, 586 So. 2d 761, 763 (Miss. 1991). In the present case, it is suggested that the state failed to meet its burden.

Pinkston was unstable. [T. 16-17, 45-55, 69, 74]. He was paranoid and being kept in protective custody. *Id.* He did not fully understand the charges. [T. 65-66, 71-72]. He was allegedly advised that other charges against him were being dropped. [T. 73].

Pinkston allegedly gave his statement with the impression that an attempted armed robbery was a lesser offense than armed robbery. *Id.* So, in effect, he had an impression of hope of reward. Pinkston said he was coerced. [T. 78, 81]. If he made inculpatory statements, they were made with the impression that by admitting an attempted robbery, he could and would avoid a more serious armed robbery charge. His admissions were made without a complete knowing of the charge or the consequences of the admission.

The standard of review regarding the admissibility of a confession is for the reviewing court to determine under the totality of the circumstances whether the "correct legal standard was applied ..., [whether] manifest error was committed, or [whether] the decision [of the trial court] is contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence. *Tyler v. State*, 911 So. 2d 550, 554-56 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

Pinkston was *Mirandised* for his second interview. [T. 23-25]. However, according to *Neal v. State, supra*, regardless of the number of times the *Miranda* warnings are given, or how "meticulous", inculpatory statements are not automatically admissible. 451 So. 2d at 753. Even when the trial court record shows the warnings have "been fully and fairly given," the State nevertheless "shoulders a heavy burden to show a knowing and intelligent waiver." *Id*.

So, even though Pinkston was given the required warnings, under a totality of the circumstances, with his instability and a misunderstanding of the charges, his purported confession should have been suppressed. A new trial is respectfully requested.

# ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER APPELLANT WAS PREJUDICED BY LATE DISCOVERY?

During the direct examination of the state's first witness, the defendant was handed six photographs which had just been disclosed to defense counsel the morning of trial. [T. 278-83, 401; Ex. 1-6]. Pinkston also said the DVD of robbery was disclosed late. [T. 288-89; Ex 7]. Pinkston's position is, therefore, that he was irreparably prejudiced by the state withholding these disclosures which prevented him from fully preparing for trial.

Pre-trial discovery is required "to avoid ambush or unfair surprise to either party at trial." *Blanton v. State*, 727 So.2d 748, 752 (Miss. Ct. App. 1998). See also *Frierson v. State*, 606 So.2d 604, 607 (Miss. 1992). Rule 9.04 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules proscribes that the disclosure of the state's evidence and witnesses in chief.

Pinkston suggests that his case is akin to the facts in *Box v. State*, 437 So.2d 19, 20 (Miss. 1983), where the defendant was charged with armed robbery, and the State failed

to disclose the information on the identity of the owner an automobile used to perpetrate the robbery who was to be a state witness, until the evening before trial. *Id.* In the present case, Pinkston claims that the state failed to produce photographs of the bank, the Mercury Cougar and the video of the robbery.

In *Box*, the court found the late disclosure deprived the defendant of adequate time to prepare for trial. *Id*. at 21. The *Box* court recognized that "[a] rule which is not enforced is no rule" and reversed *Id*.

In *Fulks v. State*, 18 So.3d 803, 805 (Miss. 2009) the State was tardy in disclosure of the content of a witness's testimony which was found to be tantamount to a trial by ambush, because, the defense counsel did not have time investigate or make preparation to deal with the testimony. Citing *Box*, the *Fulks* court reversed because of the prejudice to the defendant; and, the Court is now respectfully requested to, likewise, reverse Pinkston's conviction for the same reasons. *Id*.

# **ISSUE NO. 3:** WHETHER THE CONVICTION IS SUPPORTED BY THE WEIGHT OF EVIDENCE?

The manager of the bank did not really have an opportunity to see the two men who tried to rob the bank in this case. [T.275-83]. He could not recall the make of the get-away car. *Id.* An eye-witness misidentified the get away car. [T. 361].

Pinkston's clothing which allegedly matched one of the robbers was merely coincidental. Even Pinkston's friend could not conclusively recognize him on the video

6

of the robbery. [T. 586-92]. Pinkston's confession is suspect.

The standard is that the court on appeal will not reverse under a weight of the evidence challenge unless, accepting as true the evidence supporting the verdict, the record shows that the jury's verdict "is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." *Herring v. State*, 691 So. 2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). See also, *Boone v. State*, 973 So. 2d 237, 243 (Miss. 2008).

In this case the testimony and physical evidence are, at best, unreliable and insufficient to support the conviction, and a reversal with acquittal is called for. See *Edwards v. State*, 736 So. 2d 475 (Miss. 1999), *Hall v. State*, 644 So. 2d 1223, 1228 (Miss. 1994), and *Guilbeau v. State*, 502 So. 2d 639, 641 (Miss. 1987).

#### CONCLUSION

Chaz Pinkston is entitled to have his convictions reversed with remand for a new trial.