IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CHAZ PINKSTON

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1665

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

DEIRDRE MCCRORY

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

Chaz Pinkston was convicted in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County on a charge of armed robbery and was sentenced to a term of 35 years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (C.P.31) Aggrieved by the judgment rendered against him, Pinkston has perfected an appeal to this Court.

Substantive Facts

Jeffery Jackson was employed as the branch manager for Merchants and Farmers Bank on Frontage Road in Jackson. On June 16, 2008, Mr. Jackson arrived at the bank between 7:30 and 7:45 a.m. As he "pulled into the bank," he

"noticed two ... individuals at the end of the bank" that appeared to be holding paint brushes. Mr. Jackson parked his car, got out, and "started to open up the bank" when "an individual approached" him and demanded that he open the door and let him enter. This man, who was wielding a firearm, "motioned for his friend," also armed with a gun, "to come in." They both began demanding that Mr. Jackson "open up the vault" and give them the cash inside. Mr. Jackson "started pleading with them," explaining that he could not open the vault because it was "on a time mechanism." At that point, the men demanded that he "go around to the corner of the bank to ... the teller windows" and get on his knees. After "rambling, going through stuff," they ordered him to open the door of the "cash room." (T.272-75) Mr. Jackson recounted what happened next as follows:

About that time, the alarm was going off. You know, probably been going off a little while before then. And one of the individuals said, "What's that?" And I said, "That's the alarm, you know."

And then one of the gentlemen just started walking down the teller window and he ... shot one of the computers and then walked around and shot another computer. Then he just exited the bank.

 $(T.276)^1$

The men left the scene in a dark, older model Thunderbird or Cougar. (T.282-83)

¹The victim went on to testify that after the men departed, he got on his knees and prayed. He had thought he was going to be killed. (T.277)

Mr. Jackson identified the defendant as the shooter. He testified that Pinkston had been wearing a ball cap and a yellow or gold tee shirt. (T.276-79) Pinkston had not been wearing a mask, and Mr. Jackson eventually had been able to get a clear look at his face and to identify him from a photographic lineup. Ultimately, he testified that he had "no doubt" that Pinkston was the man who shot the gun and committed the armed robbery. (T.284-85) He maintained this position on redirect examination. (T.305)

Officer Donald Broom of the Jackson Police Department responded to the report of the armed robbery. He secured the scene, interviewed Mr. Jackson, obtained a description of the suspects, and called for the Crime Scene Investigation (CSI) unit. (T.308-09)

Sheryl Matorie, employed by the Jackson Police Department as a CSI investigator, testified that she responded to the bank on June 16. She photographed the scene and discovered two projectiles and computer fragments. (T.317-26) She also processed the Mercury Cougar in question. (T.329) Inside the car, she found a Comcast bill addressed to Chaz Pinkston. (T.344)

On June 16, Detective Juan Cloy of the Jackson Police Department was dispatched to the bank, where Mr. Jackson told him what had happened and described the suspects. (T.348-50) The following day, "the actual video footage from the surveillance footage was placed on the local news stations." Thereafter, "an individual ... called dispatch" to report the names of the suspects. Once Pinkston was developed as a suspect, Detective Cloy and Detective Tyrie Jones obtained warrants to arrest him and search his residence. Upon execution of the search

warrant, officers discovered a yellow tee shirt and a UPS cap that appeared to have been worn during the armed robbery. They also determined that Pinkston was the owner of a 1993 Mercury Cougar listed to the same address. (T.351-52)

Detective Jones testified that he was "called in" to interview Pinkston after he turned himself in. Having received the *Miranda* warnings, Pinkston elected not to give a statement. (T.388-91)

Two days later, while he was incarcerated in the Raymond Detention Center, Pinkston told facility commander John Cooley that he wanted to speak to a detective about his case. Officer Cooley then notified the detectives of this development. (T.425-26)

Sergeant Eric Smith of the Jackson Police Department testified that he and Lieutenant Joseph Wade interviewed Pinkston on June 18, 2008. Again, Pinkston was advised of his *Miranda* rights. (T.428-32) On this occasion, he executed a waiver of those rights and gave a statement set out below:

Chuck and Ken planned a robbery at M & F Bank Monday, the 16th, 2008. Tamaris drove the vehicle. I sat in the passenger seat and Mallard in the back. We went inside the bank. I told the manager to lay down and then proceeded to go through the drawers and search for the money. I went in the room and made the alarm go off, and so while running away, the gun fired twice. Everyone was dropped off at their home and we went our separate ways.

(T.438)

Lieutenant Wade corroborated Sergeant Smith's testimony. (T.465-70)

Pinkston testified that he did not make the statement admitted into evidence. (T.560) He testified that he was "at home" at the time of the armed robbery. On

cross-examination, the assistant district attorney asked him, "Mr. Pinkston, it comes down to your word against all these officers, Mr. Jackson and a video; is that correct?" Pinkston answered, "Exactly." (T.576-77)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court did not err in admitting the defendant's statement into evidence. The state presented compelling proof that Pinkston gave the statement freely and voluntarily after a valid waiver of his rights. Pinkston's testimony during the suppression hearing simply created a factual issue which was properly resolved by the trial court.

Furthermore, Pinkston's failure to move for a continuance waived the alleged discovery violations. The defense gave the court no indication that it was unprepared to meet the evidence in question; thus, it cannot put the court in error on this point.

Finally, the state submits the record contains substantial credible evidence of Pinkston's guilty. The trial court did not err in overruling the motion for new trial.

PROPOSITION ONE:

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN ADMITTING THE DEFENDANT'S STATEMENT INTO EVIDENCE

Pinkston argues first that his statement should have been suppressed as involuntary. The state counters that the trial court did not err in resolving this issue against him.

Prior to trial, the court conducted a hearing on the defendant's motion to suppress his statement. The state first called Detective Tyree Jones, who testified that he and Detective Reginald Cooper interviewed Pinkston on June 18, 2008. After

Detective Jones gave him the *Miranda* warnings, Pinkston elected not to make a statement, and the interview ended immediately thereafter. (T.3-8)

Jon Cooley, the facility commander of the Raymond Detention Center, testified that he was "walking through booking" at the center when Pinkston told him that "he wanted to speak to a detective" about his charge.² Mr. Cooley then notified the Jackson Police Department of this development. (T.12-15)

Sergeant Eric Smith testified that on June 19, he "received word that Mr. Pinkston ... wanted to talk to a detective regarding ... the incident." Thereafter, Sergeant Smith and Lieutenant Joseph Wade interviewed Pinkston. Initially, Pinkston told the officers "that he had been in Raymond for the last two days, and he was tired and wanted to get everything over with." Once more, Pinkston was given the *Miranda* warnings. He initialed each sentence, indicating that he understood them. He then signed the waiver. Sergeant Smith testified that no one had threatened, coerced or in any way influenced him in order to obtain the waiver. Pinkston appeared to be awake and alert and to knowingly and voluntarily waive his rights. (T.20-26)

Pinkston went on to give a handwritten statement which he signed. Again, Sergeant Smith testified that the statement was not induced by threats, coercion, or promises of reward. After Pinkston gave the statement in his own words, the officers asked follow-up questions which he answered voluntarily. (T.26-32)

²Mr. Cooley testified unequivocally that Pinkston initiated this conversation. (T.14)

After the state rested, Pinkston testified that he had not signed the waiver. He also denied authorship of the statement in question. He did testify that he had written a statement of approximately three lines, but that the officers "must have threw it away ... " (T.48-49) On cross-examination, he also testified that "[it] was a coerced statement. They told me to write it. They told me what to write." (T.78)

In rebuttal, Lieutenant Wade refuted Pinkston's testimony. Specifically, the lieutenant testified that Pinkston signed the waiver, gave the statement freely and voluntarily without coercion or promises of reward, and that he in fact wrote the statement and signed it as well. (T.89-95)

Sergeant Smith corroborated Lieutenant Wade's testimony in rebuttal. He also testified that to his knowledge, no one ever took a statement from Pinkston and threw it away. (T.98-100)

After hearing argument of counsel, the trial court ruled that the statement had been freely and voluntarily given. Accordingly, the motion to suppress was denied. (T.111-13)

In his challenge to the court's ruling, Pinkston suggests that this Court should take his testimony as true. (Brief for Appellant 4) To the contrary,

[t]he resolution of issues of credibility is the province of the trier of fact. *Hester v. State*, 753 So.2d 463(¶ 24) (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). In a suppression hearing, that trier of fact is the trial judge. Where supported by credible evidence, the findings of fact of the trial court must be accepted by this Court. *Id.* Whether this Court, sitting as trier of fact, would have found otherwise is immaterial.

Jackson v. State, 778 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. App. 2001).

Here, the state offered the testimony of the officers present during the taking

of the statement. Those officers testified unequivocally that the statement was given without improper inducements, threats or coercion. They also specifically rebutted Pinkston's contradictory testimony. Obviously, "[t]here is credible evidence upon which the trial court could, and did, find this confession to be properly admissible." *Jackson*, 778 So.2d at 789. Under these circumstances, Pinkston cannot sustain his "heavy burden" to show error in the trial court's ruling. *Blakeney v. State*, 29 So.2d 46, 50 (Miss. App. 2009).

The state asserts the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress "was not manifestly wrong or contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence." *Chim v. State*, 972 So.2d 601, 606 (Miss. 2008). Pinkston's first proposition should be rejected.

PROPOSITION TWO:

PINKSTON'S FAILURE TO MOVE FOR A CONTINUANCE WAIVED THE ALLEGED DISCOVERY VIOLATIONS

During his direct examination of Jeffery Jackson, the assistant district attorney handed the witness a set of photographs of the bank. (T.278) Thereafter, this exchange was taken:

BY MS. PALMER: Your Honor ... we'd just like to make an objection at this time.

BY THE COURT: All right. What's the basis of the objection?

BY MS. PALMER: Basically, that my client is asserting that this is the first opportunity that he has had to view these photographs.

BY THE COURT: All right. Well, had you reviewed them?

BY MS. PALMER: I did this morning, Your Honor.

BY THE COURT: All right. Thank you. Overruled. They may be admitted.

(emphasis added) (T.278-79)

A second discovery issue arose later during the direct examination of Mr. Jackson, when the state sought to introduce the DVD taken from the bank security footage. Defense counsel objected on the ground that he defendant was "asserting that he just received his copy today. Indeed, we received it this morning." The court then asked, "When did you first see it?" (T.288-89) This discussion ensued:

BY MS. PALMER: We've had an opportunity, myself and Mr. Pinkston, to review it prior to the—another proceeding in this matter. Would have been at least—

BY MR. ROGILLIO: Yeah. He watched it.

BY MS. PALMER: -six to eight weeks ago.

BY MR. ROGILLIO: He watched the video several weeks ago. I mean, he's seen this. This certainly is not a shock to him.

BY THE COURT: All right. Overruled.

(emphasis added) (T.289)

Pinkston now contends his conviction should be reversed on the ground of "late discovery." (Brief for Appellant 5) The state counters that Pinkston's failure to request a continuance constitutes a waiver of the alleged discovery violations. *Murray v. State*, 20 So.3d 739, 743 (Miss. App. 2009), citing *Sims v. State*, 928 So.2d 984, 988 (Miss. App. 2006). Accord, *Willis v. State*, 911 So.2d 947, 950 (Miss. 2005), and *Shook v. State*, 552 So.2d 841, 850 (Miss. 1989). Defense counsel

acknowledged that she had reviewed the exhibits in question. By declining to move for a continuance,³ she gave the court no indication that she was not prepared to meet the evidence.⁴

Pinkston cannot put the trial court in error for failing to grant relief which was not requested. His second proposition should be denied.

PROPOSITION THREE:

THE VERDICT IS NOT CONTRARY TO THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE

Pinkston contends finally that he is entitled to a new trial because the verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. To prevail, he must satisfy this standard of review:

"[T]his Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Dudley v. State*, 719 So.2d 180, 182(¶ 8) (Miss.1998). On review, the State is given "the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from the evidence." *Griffin v. State*, 607 So.2d 1197, 1201 (Miss.1992). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming

³It may be inferred from the record that counsel did not move for a continuance because she did not need one. She did not appear to be surprised by these exhibits.

⁴Fulks v. State, 18 So.3d 803, 805 (Miss.2009), is distinguishable on this basis. In that case, the court denied the defendant's request for a continuance. No such request was made here.

weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Dudley*, 719 So.2d at 182. "This Court does not have the task of re-weighing the facts in each case to, in effect, go behind the jury to detect whether the testimony and evidence they chose to believe was or was not the most credible." *Langston v. State*, 791 So.2d 273, 280 (¶ 14) (Miss. Ct. App. 2001).

Smith v. State, 868 So.2d 1048, 1050-51 (Miss. App. 2004).

It has been "held in numerous cases that the jury is the sole judge of the credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be attached to their testimony." *Kohlberg v. State*, 704 So.2d 1307, 1311 (Miss.1997). As the Mississippi Supreme Court reiterated in *Hales v. State*, 933 So.2d 962, 968 (Miss. 2006), criminal cases will not be reversed "where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts..." [citations omitted] Rather, "juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and [the Court does] not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury. " [citations omitted]

In this case, the prosecution presented substantial credible evidence, including eyewitness testimony and the defendant's confession, that Pinkston was guilty of armed robbery. Pinkston's testimony to the contrary simply created an issue for the jury's resolution. Allowing the verdict to stand would by no means constitute sanctioning an unconscionable injustice. It follows that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in refusing to order a new trial. Pinkston's final proposition should be denied.

CONCLUSION

The state respectfully submits the arguments presented by Pinkston are without merit. Accordingly, the judgment entered below should be affirmed.